ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DOMINIQUE LAVAR WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001617

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the plain view exception excused the warrantless search of appellant's vehicle when the crime suspected was unlawful carrying of a handgun and the vehicle was unoccupied?

2.

Whether appellant was entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of unlawful carrying of a handgun because the State presented no evidence that he carried the handgun about his person as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20?

3.

Whether the trial judge erred in manufacturing a definition of carrying a handgun about the person that is not contained in the statute and was contrary to the defendant's request to charge the plain and ordinary meaning of the terms of the statute, and in charging the jury on an exception to unlawful carrying of a handgun when such exception is an affirmative defense that was not raised by the defense and illegally expanded the proscribed conduct?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 13, 2012, a Charleston County grand jury indicted appellant for unlawful carrying of a handgun. R. 223. On June 18, 2014, appellant was tried before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. R. 1. Chris Lietzow and Jenna Newman represented the State. R. 2. Michael Cooper and Annie Andrews represented appellant. R. 2. The jury convicted appellant. R. 186, l. 23 – 187, l. 2. The trial judge deferred post-trial motions and sentencing. R. 191, l. 12 – 192, l. 20. On July 22, 2014, Judge Harrington heard post-trial motions and sentenced appellant to two days' imprisonment, with credit for two days' time served. July 22, 2014, R. 194; 213, ll. 11 – 20. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The plain view exception did not excuse the warrantless search of appellant's vehicle when the crime suspected was unlawful carrying of a handgun and the vehicle was unoccupied.

Relevant Facts

The Suppression Hearing

Before trial, Judge Harrington heard testimony and argument relating to the warrantless search of a car and an alleged statement made by the defendant.¹ Around midnight on July 24, 2012, Officer James Greenawalt ("Greenawalt") of the North Charleston Police Department K-9 division was peeping into cars with his flashlight in the parking lot of a bar. R. 12, l. 6 – 13, l. 8. R. 26, ll. 11 – 16. As he looked into an older model Crown Victoria, he saw a pistol between the driver and passenger seats. R. 14, ll. 8 – 20. Officer Greenawalt and another officer backed away from the car and watched it for an hour. R. 15, ll. 5 – 25.

Appellant Dominique Williams ("Williams") and his friend Antonio Simmons ("Simmons") left the bar and were walking to the car. R. 49, ll. 6 – 25. Simmons testified they were "chatting, joking around about what was going on in the club, about females, and then the next thing you know I looked up and had a gun pointed at me." R. 50, ll. 1 – 9. The gun was in his face at "point-blank range." R. 50, ll. 16 – 17. Officer Greenawalt admitted the police advanced on Williams and Simmons with their guns drawn. R. 22, ll. 5

¹ Judge Harrington suppressed the alleged statement made by Williams, R. 79, ll. 12 – 25. That ruling is not on appeal.

– 9. Williams and Simmons were handcuffed and held behind the car. R. 22, l. 19 – 23, l. 4.

Simmons testified that the police searched them, took the keys out of Williams' pocket, and went inside the car. R. 51, ll. 5 – 18. An officer took the gun out of the car and asked them “what is this.” R. 51, ll. 7 – 13. Williams and Simmons never made it to the car before the police seized them. R. 51, ll. 19 – 23.

Officer Greenawalt's recollection differed from Simmons. He claimed Williams opened the passenger's door and then opened the driver's door. R. 16, l. 13 – 17, l. 7. In Officer Greenawalt's version, only when the driver's door was “ajarred to the point [Williams] could make entry to the vehicle” did they make their “presence known” with guns drawn. R. 17, ll. 1 – 7. R. 22, ll. 5 – 9. The officer admitted that Williams never got inside the car. R. 22, ll. 1 – 4.

On direct-examination, Officer Greenawalt claimed that another officer reached into the car and took the pistol once Williams and Simmons were in handcuffs behind the car. R. 18, ll. 15 – 20. Officer Greenawalt said that Williams, without being asked any questions, “decided to make an utterance to me in saying that the weapon was his, it fell out of his pocket.” R. 18, ll. 15 – 20. When asked again on cross-examination, Officer Greenawalt reiterated that the other officer “retrieved the firearm from the vehicle.” R. 24, ll. 1 – 5. Defense counsel impeached him with his report that said as *Greenawalt* retrieved the pistol, “the subject made the statement.” R. 24, l. 11 – 25, l. 21. After defense counsel argued that

Officer Greenawalt's testimony was not credible, Judge Harrington suppressed the statement.² R. 76, l. 9 – 79, l. 25.

Officer Greenawalt admitted that he could not tell if the gun was real without inspecting it. R. 27, ll. 12 – 18. Nor could he tell whether the gun was stolen just by looking at it. R. 27, ll. 19 – 21. The gun was checked against police records and it was not stolen. R. 28, ll. 20 – 21. Officer Greenawalt admitted that he believed the pistol was legally registered to Williams. R. 28, ll. 7 – 17. Defense counsel asked, "So the only thing illegal about the gun, in your opinion, was where it was placed in the vehicle?" R. 28, ll. 7 – 8. Officer Greenawalt answered, "Correct." R. 28, l. 9.

Judge Harrington heard extensive argument on whether the search of Williams' car complied with the Fourth Amendment. R. 28, l. 24 – 40, l. 12. R. 59, l. 15 – 80, l. 1. The State argued that the plain view exception to the warrant requirement saved the search. R. 63, l. 24 – 65, l. 4. Williams argued that the location of the pistol in the car was not illegal because the car was unoccupied. R. 59, l. 17 – 63, l. 20. Williams argued, based on State v. Clarke, 302 S.C. 423, 396 S.E.2d 827 (1990) that the exceptions to the unlawful carrying statute "are not descriptive of the offense." R. 61, ll. 7 – 62, l. 21. The trial court ultimately ruled that the plain view exception applied and refused to suppress the pistol. R. 78, l. 21 – 79, l. 11. Williams renewed his objection when the State offered the pistol in the evidence. R. 96, ll. 9 – 13.

² The State argued that even though Williams had been placed in handcuffs at the point of a gun, he was not in custody under Miranda because Officer Greenawalt testified that Williams was not under arrest. R. 73, l. 20 – 76, l. 7. Judge Harrington's ruling suppressing Williams' statement is not on appeal.

Discussion

The plain view exception to the warrant requirement did not apply because the illegality of the pistol was not immediately apparent. “Where a search is undertaken by law enforcement officials to discover evidence of criminal wrongdoing, ... reasonableness generally requires the obtaining of a judicial warrant.” Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2482 (2014). U.S. Const. amends. IV, XIV. The only exception to the warrant requirement advanced by the State was that the pistol was in plain view.

For the plain view exception to excuse a warrantless search, the police must have probable cause. Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U.S. 321, 326 (1987). In Hicks, police officers entered a residence because of shots fired. Id. at 323-24. While they were in the apartment, the police moved a stereo to examine the serial numbers. Id. The stereo turned out to be stolen. Id. The Court ruled moving the stereo equipment was a search and the plain view exception did not apply because it was not immediately apparent that the stereo equipment was contraband or stolen. Id. at 325-27. See also State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011) (stating requirement that “incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities”).

Pistols are not illegal. U.S. Const. amend. II. The police acted under the belief that the pistol as it lay on the floorboard was illegal under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20. This code section is titled, “Unlawful carrying of handgun; exceptions.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20. It is not titled, “Unlawful placement or storage of handguns.” The conduct proscribed is: “It is unlawful for anyone to **carry about the person** any handgun, whether concealed or not, except as follows, unless otherwise specifically prohibited by law.” Id. (emphasis added). It was not disputed that Williams never entered the vehicle.

According to Simmons, Williams never even opened the doors of the vehicle before he was seized by police officers with their guns drawn. The pistol was only laying on the floorboard of an unoccupied car. Since Williams was not carrying the handgun “about his person,” section 16-23-20 did not apply and did not render the pistol immediately apparent as illegal. “A policeman does not have the right to seize any object in his view in order to examine it and determine if it is or would be evidence in a criminal prosecution.” State v. Meichel, 290 So.2d 878, 880 (La. 1974).

The court relied on one of the exceptions to this statute to find that the illegality of the pistol was immediately apparent. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20(9). This exception states:

(9) a person in a vehicle if the handgun is:

(a) secured in a closed glove compartment, closed console, closed trunk, or in a closed container secured by an integral fastener and transported in the luggage compartment of the vehicle; however, this item is not violated if the glove compartment, console, or trunk is opened in the presence of a law enforcement officer for the sole purpose of retrieving a driver’s license, registration, or proof of insurance. If the person has been issued a concealed weapon permit . . . then the person also may secure his weapon under a seat in a vehicle, or in any open or closed storage compartment within the vehicle’s passenger compartment.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20(9)(a) (emphasis added).

Reliance on this exception was error. The exceptions to section 16-23-20 do not broaden the proscribed conduct. State v. Clarke, 302 S.C. 423, 396 S.E.2d 827 (1990). In Clarke, the Supreme Court held that, “The statute clearly states that it is unlawful to carry a pistol and the exceptions are not descriptive of the offense.” Id. at 425, 396 S.E.2d at 828. The defendant in Clarke argued that the State must negate the exceptions in section 16-23-20 in an indictment. Id. The Court rejected this contention and ruled

that “an exception to a criminal offense shall be negated in the indictment only if the language of the exception must be regarded as descriptive of the offense.” Id. Holding that the exceptions were not descriptive of the offense, the Court held that the defendant bears the burden of proof on the exceptions. Id.

Clarke means that the court could not use the exception contained in section 16-23-20(9) to broaden the offense. Under the State’s theory, because the pistol was not in the glove compartment, it was illegal even though no one was in the car. Clarke forbids this reasoning. Clarke requires that the State must prove illegality under the proscription of the first sentence of section 16-23-20: that Williams carried a handgun about his person. Since it was admitted the vehicle was unoccupied when the police first saw the pistol, there was nothing illegal about it under the statute. It was also admitted that Williams never entered the. Williams was seized before he even had a chance to enter the car or put the pistol in the glove compartment. Even if the exception could be used to broaden the proscribed conduct, it would not apply because by its plain terms it requires “a person in a vehicle.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20(9). Since the plain view exception does not apply, the warrantless search and seizure was illegal and the pistol should have been suppressed.

2.

Appellant was entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of unlawful carrying of a handgun because he did not carry the handgun about his person as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20.

The facts presented at trial were largely unchanged from the suppression hearing with the exception that Simmons did not testify. Officer Greenawalt again testified that

he saw the pistol, waited for an hour until Williams approached the car and opened the door, and then seized Williams at the point of a gun. R. 90, l. 7 – 92, l. 20. R.. 97, ll. 6 – 18. R. 98, l. 1 – 101, l. 7. Officer Jason Monroe testified that appellant admitted he owned the pistol and that the weapon came “back completely legal.” R. 129, ll. 9 – 21. R. 134, ll. 6 – 7.

Williams argued he was entitled to a directed verdict because there was no evidence that he carried the pistol about his person. R. 140, l. 11 – 142, l. 20. The trial judge questioned both lawyers regarding the meaning of “about their person.” R. 144, l. 5 – 145, l. 8. Both attorneys admitted it had not been defined. R. 144, l. 5 – 145, l. 8. The State argued the statute meant that it meant anywhere the person could access. R. 145, l. 13 – 146, l. 14. The State also argued that the moment Williams opened the door, he was guilty of unlawful carrying. R. 146, l. 15 – 147, l. 5. In response, Williams argued that under the State’s interpretation, Williams would not be “allowed to pick up the weapon momentarily and place it in the glove box” and therefore could not have legally entered his car. R. 147, l. 8 -148, l. 22. Williams argued that since the State offered no evidence that Williams put the gun on the floor of the car, the State’s theory of illegality led to an absurd reading of the statute and that Williams was entitled to a directed verdict. R. 147, l. 8 -148, l. 22. The trial judge denied appellant’s motion. R. 148, l. 23 – 151, l. 9.

Williams was entitled to a directed verdict because the State produced no direct evidence nor substantial circumstantial evidence of his guilt. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011); State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 777 (2011). It was undisputed that Williams never entered the car. As argued above in Issue

1, the State needed to prove that Williams carried the pistol about his person and could not use the exception to broaden the proscribed conduct. S.C. Code Ann. §16-23-20; State v. Clarke, 302 S.C. 423, 396 S.E.2d 827 (1990). Since Williams never entered the car, he did not carry the pistol and the pistol was not about his person. Williams was not required to disprove section 16-23-20(9). The State was required to prove that he carried the pistol about his person. Since the evidence is undisputed that Williams never entered the car (nor even had an opportunity to place the pistol in the glove box), he was entitled to a directed verdict.

3.

The trial judge erred in manufacturing a definition of carrying a handgun about the person that is not contained in the statute and was contrary to the defendant's request to charge the plain and ordinary meaning of the terms of the statute, and in charging the jury on an exception to unlawful carrying of a handgun when such exception is an affirmative defense that was not raised by the defense and illegally expanded the proscribed conduct.

During the charge conference, Williams asked that the trial court charge the jury that the words of a statute should be given their plain and ordinary meaning. R. 158, ll. 11 – 20. The trial judge declined this request. R. 160, ll. 1 – 12. The trial judge then charged the jury that a weapon is:

about the defendant's person if it is readily accessible and convenient for immediate use. The pistol need not be actually touching the person of the defendant. There are exceptions to this general law against carrying a pistol which allows certain people to carry pistols. The exception in this case is a person in a vehicle where the pistol is secured in a closed glove compartment, closed console or closed trunk.

R. 182, ll. 1 – 11. The trial judge deferred sentencing and post-trial motions and heard further argument about the propriety of this jury charge. July 22, 2014, R. 196, l. 1 – 199, l.

21. R. 216 Defendant’s Motion for a New Trial. The trial judge ruled:

Based—reviewing, again, that—your argument that the jury instructions were given, and you did properly, I believe, preserve that argument for appellate purposes, that when I gave the instructions that they were confusing and misleading, I disagree. I had charged what I believed to be the appropriate law in the state of South Carolina based upon the facts that were given. The instructions reflected the testimony and the evidence that was presented at trial and I crafted them in such a way as to make the statute and the definitions that were brought up during the trial clear to the jury and the exception under Subsection 9 was mentioned several times throughout the trial, and I find that the instruction was not prejudicial to the Defendant. I find that they were adequately and thoroughly given to the jury, they thoroughly explained the law on the evidence that was presented throughout the trial. The issues, again, were clear. I do believe that the plain reading of the statute was satisfied and your motion for a new trial is denied.

July 22, 2014, R. 201, l. 15 – 202, l. 10.

The trial judge erred in expanding the statutory terminology. The trial judge should only have charged the jury that appellant could be found guilty if he carried the handgun about his person. “Penal statutes are construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant.” Williams v. State, 306 S.C. 89, 91, 410 S.E.2d 563, 564 (1991). “This Court is without authority to depart from the plain meaning of the words of the statute.” Id. Statutory terms must be given their literal meaning when they are plain and unambiguous. State v. Benjamin, 341 S.C. 160, 163, 533 S.E.2d 606, 607 (Ct. App. 1991). “In such circumstances, this Court simply lacks the authority to look for or impose another meaning and may not resort to subtle or forced construction in an attempt to limit or expand a statute’s scope.” Id.