ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

AUG 07 2015

The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-001617

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DOMINIQUE LAVAR WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The Ohio Court concluded: “the word ‘on,’ in the expression ‘on or about his person,’ means connected with or attached to, while the word ‘about’ means near by, close at hand, in reach of.” Id. (citations omitted). The court found that the gun fell within the purview of the statute, since it was immediately beside the defendant as he drove the car. Id.; see also Porello v. State, 121 Ohio St. 280, 289, 168 N.E. 135, 137 (Ohio 1929) (finding sufficient evidence to support that the defendant had a pistol concealed “on or about his person” where there was testimony connecting the defendant with the revolver, and placing him in such proximity thereto that he is shown to have had

immediate physical possession and control of the weapon, in other words, that it was so close and convenient of access as to be literally within the words of the statute about – that is, nearby, his person).

Numerous other jurisdictions have agreed that “about the person” is different than “on the person” and that “about the person” generally means sufficiently close to the person so as to be readily accessible for immediate use. See Doulgerakis v. Commonwealth, 61 Va. App. 417, 421, 737 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Va. Ct. App. 2013) (explaining that the Supreme Court of Virginia has previously declared that “about the person” in the context of the unlawful concealed carrying statute means “so connected with the person as to be readily accessible for use or surprise if desired”) (citing Schaaf v. Commonwealth, 220 Va. 429, 430, 258 S.E.2d 574, 574-75 (1979)); State v. Tibbs, 772 S.W.2d 834, 838 (Mo. Ct. App. 1989) (“Whether a weapon is on or about the person . . . is determined by whether it is in such close proximity to the accused so as to be within his easy reach and convenient control.”); Turley v. Commonwealth, 307 Ky. 89, 92, 209 S.W.2d 843, 845 (Ky. 1948) (stating that “the question of accessibility and convenience of use” enter materially into the question as to whether or not a weapon is about one's person); United States v. Waters, 73 F.Supp. 72, 73 (1947) (finding the evidence sufficiently established that the defendant had a pistol “about his person” within the meaning of an unlawful carrying statute where the evidence showed that the defendant did not need to move from the front seat of his taxicab to obtain the pistol); People v. Niemoth, 322 Ill. 51, 52, 152 N.E. 537, 537 (Ill. 1926) (stating that “about the person” within the meaning of the unlawful concealed carrying statute means “sufficiently close to the person to be readily accessible for immediate use”); State v. Mulconry, 270 S. W.

375, 377 (Mo. 1925) (finding correct an instruction including a statement the revolving pistol need not be in the defendant's pocket to be concealed about his person, but that it would be sufficient if the weapon, found behind his body on the seat of the automobile and concealed from view, was in such close proximity to the defendant as to be within reach and convenient control of the defendant); State v. Renard, 273 S. W. 1058 (Mo. 1925) (a loaded revolver found on the floor of the car at the defendant's feet was held to be carrying about the person); Lewallen v. State, 148 Tenn. 326, 255 S. W. 373 (Tenn. 1923) (where the defendant, when caught operating a still, "reached over to a nearby log and secured a pistol," it was held to be sufficient carrying to sustain a conviction for unlawful carrying of a pistol); Wagner v. State, 188 S. W. 1001 (Tex. Crim. App. 1916) ("The Legislature must have meant something when it used the words, 'or about the person,' and, on principle, using the word 'about' in its ordinary meaning, taking into consideration the context and subject-matter relative to which it is employed, the word, not being specially defined, must, as we believe, be held to mean, within the pistol statute, near by, close at hand, convenient of access, and within such distance of the party so having it as that such party could, without materially changing his position, get his hand on it; otherwise every person having a vehicle would be authorized to keep prohibited weapons in his vehicle and within reach of his hand, ready for action. . . ."); Garrett v. State, 25 S.W. 285 (Tex. Crim. App. 1894) ("The pistol was on the wagon seat near appellant. This was about his person."). In this case, the trial judge's definition of carrying about the person – that is, that "[a] weapon is about the defendant's person if it is readily accessible and is convenient for immediate use," (R. p. 149, lines 14-16; p. 182, lines 3-5), was proper and appropriate.

Furthermore, a jury question was created regarding whether or not Appellant unlawfully carried the handgun about his person. First, there was evidence presented supporting that Appellant unlawfully carried his pistol prior to entering the club. The evidence reflected that when he exited the club, Appellant had the car keys in his hand, unlocked the driver's side door, and prepared to sit in the driver's seat. (R. p. 98-100). Furthermore, Appellant admitted to Detective Monroe that the pistol belonged to him. (R. p. 129). Based on this evidence, a reasonable jury could properly infer that Appellant unlawfully carried the pistol – which a jury could infer he knew about under the circumstances since it unquestionably belonged to him – about his person as he drove the vehicle to the club and/or at some point prior to his exiting the vehicle to go inside.

Second, there was evidence presented supporting that Appellant unlawfully carried the pistol about his person when he returned to his vehicle after exiting the club. Again, the evidence reflected that Appellant exited the club with the car keys in hand, unlocked the driver's side door, and prepared to sit in the driver's seat; a reasonable jury could properly infer Appellant knew about the gun and its location in the car since the gun belonged to him. When Appellant knowingly and voluntarily placed himself within sufficient proximity of his handgun in the vehicle such that the handgun was readily accessible and convenient for his immediate use, he violated the unlawful carrying statute. For both of the above reasons, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for directed verdict.

- III. Appellant's issues regarding the jury charge are not preserved for appellate review where Appellant expressly waived any objection to the jury charge by telling the judge he had no objection to the charge as given and where Appellant never raised his appellate issues to the trial judge until after trial in his post-trial motion. Error preservation concerns aside, however, the trial judge properly crafted a jury charge containing an appropriate definition of carrying "about the person" and the charge regarding one of the exceptions in the statute was neither erroneous nor prejudicial to Appellant.**

Relevant Facts

After both the State and the defense rested, defense counsel asked the judge if he could submit proposed jury charges. (R. p. 157, lines 18-25). His proposed charges included a circumstantial evidence instruction from State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013), which the judge subsequently indicated she would charge. (R. p. 158-60). Defense counsel also requested that the judge "charge the jury on statutory interpretation, the rules of statutory interpretation," including that "terms would be given their ordinary and plain meaning" and that "ambiguities in the statute are to be interpreted in favor of the defendant." (R. p. 158, lines 11-20). In support of this request, defense counsel presented two cases discussing the principles of statutory construction. (R. p. 159, lines 13-23). Counsel did not present the judge with a written proposed charge on statutory construction but instead referred generally to the language in the two cases he presented. (R. p. 159, lines 13-23). The judge told counsel she would not be charging statutory interpretation principles to the jury. (R. p. 160, lines 3-5). Counsel again reiterated that he was requesting simply that the jury be charged that the "terms of [a] statute be given a plain and ordinary meaning" and that "any ambiguity of the statute is to be interpreted in favor of the defendant." (R. p. 160, lines 6-12). The judge again denied the request but stated it was preserved for the record. (R. p. 160, lines 13-14).

Thereafter, the attorneys gave their closing arguments. During the defense's closing, counsel discussed the exception under subsection (9) of the statute and argued it did not apply since there was no evidence Appellant was a "person in a vehicle."⁶ (R. p. 171-72). Subsequently, the judge issued the charge on the law, which included the following:

A weapon is about the defendant's person if it is readily accessible and convenient for immediate use. The pistol need not be actually touching the person of the defendant. There are exceptions to this general law against carrying a pistol which allows certain people to carry pistols. The exception in this case is a person in a vehicle where the pistol is secured in a closed glove compartment, closed console or closed trunk. (R. p. 182, lines 3-11).⁷

After the jury charge, the judge asked if there were any objections or corrections to the jury charge as read. (R. p. 184, lines 8-9). Defense counsel stated: "Not from the defense, Your Honor." (R. p. 184, line 12).

Following trial, defense counsel filed a motion for a new trial. (See R. p. 216-21). In this motion, defense counsel argued that the verdict was against the greater weight of the evidence because Appellant never carried the handgun and the handgun was never about his person; that the handgun should have been suppressed pursuant to the Fourth Amendment; that the jury instructions were "confusing and misleading," and that the trial judge erred in denying Appellant's directed verdict motion. (See R. p. 216-21). Regarding the jury instructions, defense counsel argued they were confusing because the judge "erroneously denied the Defendant's request to charge the jury on the rules of

⁶ Notably, during closing argument, defense counsel seemed to acknowledge that the pistol was to some degree about Appellant's person: "And clearly, from the facts, there's no carrying. *It's barely about the person.*" (R. p. 173, lines 23-24).

⁷ The language defining "about the person" may have come from an Attorney General Opinion construing a statute prohibiting the "carrying about the person" of certain pistols. See 1964 S.C. Op. Att'y Gen. No. 1704. This Attorney General Opinion discussed case law from all over the country before setting forth the opinion's definition. See id.

statutory interpretation;” the judge “erroneously charged the jury that “about the person” meant “readily accessible and convenient for immediate use” because “[t]here is no South Carolina precedent stating that “about the person” means readily accessible and convenient for immediate use; and “the Court erred by charging the jury on the statutory exception provided for carrying handgun[s] in automobiles” since the defense did not assert a defense pursuant to the exception and State v. Clarke, 302 S.C. 423, 396 S.E.2d 827 (1990) stated that the exceptions to the statute are “not descriptive of the offense.” (R. p. 220). In that vein, counsel argued that “[b]y charging only the automobile exception enumerated in part (9)(a), the Court expanded the operation of the statute and violated a cardinal rule of statutory interpretation.” (R. p. 221).

On July 22, 2014, the trial judge convened a sentencing hearing and a hearing on Appellant’s motion for new trial. At the hearing, defense counsel incorporated his written motion and stated he had no oral argument to supplement it. (R. p. 197, lines 11-14). However, after the solicitor made a brief argument, defense counsel responded and argued there was no evidence Appellant ever carried the pistol or that the pistol was about his person. (R. p. 199, lines 2-21). The trial judge ruled that the evidence was sufficient to sustain the verdict; that there was no Fourth Amendment violation since the gun was properly seized under the plain view exception; that the directed verdict motion was properly denied; and that the jury instructions were not confusing or misleading. (R. p. 200-201). The judge explained that she charged what she believed to be the appropriate law in South Carolina based upon the facts, and that she crafted the definitions in a way that made the law clear to the jury. (R. p. 201, line 20 – p. 202, line 1). The judge also ruled that it was proper to charge the language regarding subsection

(9) of the statute where this exception “was mentioned several times throughout the trial.” (R. p. 202, lines 1-3). She also found that this language would not have been prejudicial to Appellant in any event. (R. p. 202, lines 3-4). The judge then denied Appellant’s motion for new trial and proceeded with sentencing. (R. p. 202, lines 9-20). After hearing extensively from defense counsel and from Appellant himself, the judge sentenced Appellant to two days of time served. (R. p. 213, lines 17-20).

Issue Preservation

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). “If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal.” State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

On appeal, Appellant contends that the trial judge erred in charging the jury regarding a definition of carrying a handgun “about the person” that is not contained in the statute. (Brief of Appellant, p. 12). He also argues that the judge erred in charging the jury regarding subsection (9) of the statute when this exception is “an affirmative defense that was not raised by the defense and illegally expanded the proscribed conduct.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 12). However, the issues raised on appeal are not preserved for appellate review. First, Appellant expressly waived any issues he may have

had regarding the jury charge when he told the judge he had no objections or corrections to the jury charge.⁸ (R. p. 184, lines 8-12). See State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Even after the trial court specifically asked if there were any objections to the charges given, Rios responded, ‘None.’ By failing to contemporaneously object to the jury charges, Rios has waived his right to allege error on appeal.”); State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 600, 211 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1975) (“At the conclusion of the charge, an opportunity was afforded to counsel to make any objections thereto. No objection was made that the instructions given were inadequate nor were any additional requests made to the court. The failure to timely request a specific charge or charges constituted a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of asserted errors in the charge.”); see also State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding any issue with the admission of a challenged piece of evidence was waived where Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had no objection when the evidence was introduced during trial).

Second, Appellant never raised the issues being raised on appeal to the trial judge until after trial in his post-trial motion. (See R. p. 216-21). When a party raises issues for the first time in a post-trial motion, the judge never receives an opportunity to rule on those issues at a time when potential error could be cured. See I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.”). Accordingly, it is unfair to allow a

⁸ Critically, the issues Appellant raised in the earlier charge conference are **not** the same issues that are being raised on appeal. Again, in the charge conference, Appellant requested only a Logan circumstantial evidence charge and that the judge charge the jury regarding the principles of statutory construction. (See R. p. 196-99).

litigant to raise such untimely issues on appeal, and consequently, such issues are considered unpreserved for appellate review. See State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 499 S.E.2d 209 (1998) (to preserve an issue for appellate review, the objection must be timely made, which usually requires it be made at the earliest possible opportunity); State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (“A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.”); State v. King, 334 S.C. 504, 509-510, 514 S.E.2d 578, 581 (1999) (where defendant failed to object to issue arising during the jury charge until after the verdict in his post-trial motion for a new trial, he waived appellate review of the issue); Bank of New York v. Sumter County, 387 S.C. 147, 159, 691 S.E.2d 473, 479 (2010) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time in a post-trial motion.”); State v. Logan, 279 S.C. 345, 348, 306 S.E.2d 622, 624 (1983) (“Appellant can neither take advantage of an error he contributed to at trial nor preserve a vice and, upon learning of the outcome of trial, raise it on appeal.”); State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) (“Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal.”); State v. Hale, 284 S.C. 348, 355, 326 S.E.2d 418, 423 (Ct. App. 1985) (“Hale concedes that no exception was taken to the ‘Allen’ charge in the trial court. Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to object to the charge, Hale cannot properly raise the issue for the first time on appeal.”); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”); State v. Penland, 275 S.C. 537,

538, 273 S.E.2d 765, 766 (1981) (“One may not preserve a vice until he learns what the result will be and then, take advantage of the error on appeal.”).

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant’s issues regarding the jury instructions are not preserved for appellate review and these issues should be dismissed as procedurally barred. See, e.g., State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) (an issue not preserved for review should not be addressed by the Court of Appeals).

Discussion of the Merits

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